
Regular Council Meeting Agenda March 12, 2024, 6:30pm 

 
 

AGENDA 
Bentley Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday March 12, 2024 
6:30pm Regular Meeting 

 
 

1. Call to Order  
 
 

2. Indigenous Acknowledgement 
 
“We acknowledge that we are meeting on Treaty 6 Territory and Home of Metis 
Nation Region 3, on land that is part of a historic agreement involving mutuality 
and respect. We recognize all the many First Nations, Metis, Inuit, and non-First 
Nations whose footsteps have marked these lands.” 
 
 

3. Amendments & Acceptance of Agenda 
 
 

4. Adoption of Previous Minutes:  
 

a) Regular Meeting of Council February 27, 2024 
 
 

5. Financial: 
 

a) Prepaid Cheque Listing – Cheques No. 20240121 to 20240166 
 

 
6. Unfinished Business 

 
a) Oxford Park Washroom Quote 

 
 

7. New Business 
 

a) Monkey Top Fire Cost Recovery 
 

b) Land Use Bylaw – Proposed Changes – Summary 
 
 

8. Correspondence 
 

a) Lacombe County Council Highlights February 22, 2024 
b) Media Release – Bentley Council Issues Notice of Intent to Annex Lands 

 
 
 



Regular Council Meeting Agenda March 12, 2024, 6:30pm 

9. Other Business 
  

a) Extended Producer Responsibility Information 
 

 
10. Council Reports 

 
a) Mayor Rathjen 
b) Deputy Mayor Grimsdale 
c) Councillor Eastman 
d) Councillor Hansen 
e) Councillor Valiquette 

 
 

11. Adjournment       



Regular Council Meeting Minutes February 27, 2024  

 

Minutes of the Regular of the Council of the Town of Bentley 

 February 27, 2024 

In-Camera meeting at 6:00pm in advance of regular council meeting 

 
Date and Place  Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Council of the Town of Bentley 

held Tuesday, February 27, 2024, at 6:30 p.m., in the Bentley Municipal 
Office and In-Camera meeting held at 6:00pm in advance of the regular 
council meeting. 
 
 

In Attendance Mayor Greg Rathjen 
Deputy Mayor Grimsdale 

   Councillor Valiquette 
   Councillor Eastman 
   Councillor Hansen 
   CAO, Marc Fortais 
 
 
In-Camera Meeting  Pursuant to section 194 of the Municipal Government Act, RSA. 2000 c.M-

26, a Special In-Camera Council Meeting conducted in-person took place 
and began at 6:00pm in advance of the Regular council Meeting on 
February 27, 2024, in the Council Chambers (Seniors Drop In) at the Town 
Office. 

 
 Motion 50/2024 Moved by Councillor Eastman, “THAT the special in-

camera meeting of Mayor and Council be closed to the public at 6:00pm, 
pursuant to section 24(1) and 27(1) of the Freedom of Information and the 
Protection of Privacy Act - Advice from Officials / Privileged Information -  
Annexation Negotiations.” 

 
         Carried  
 
 
 Motion 51/2024 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT the special in-

camera meeting of Mayor and Council be concluded, and that Mayor and 
Council reconvene in public at 6:24pm” 

 
         Carried 
 
   Mayor Rathjen adjourned the meeting at 6:24pm 
 
 
 
 



Regular Council Meeting Minutes February 27, 2024  

Call to Order 
 
Regular Meeting Mayor Rathjen called the regular council meeting to order at 6:30pm 

 
 
Indigenous  
Acknowledgement “We acknowledge that we are meeting on Treaty 6 Territory and 

Home of Metis Nation Region 3, on land that is part of a historic agreement 
involving mutuality and respect. We recognize all the many First Nations, 
Metis, Inuit, and non-First Nations whose footsteps have marked these 
lands.” 

Read by Mayor Rathjen 
 
 

Agenda 

Motion 52/2024 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT the agenda of 
the February 27, 2024, Regular Meeting of Mayor and Council be amended 
to include CAO Evaluation as an additional item for Other Business.” 

        Carried 

 

Motion 53/2024 Moved by Deputy Mayor Grimsdale, “THAT the 
agenda of the February 27, 2024, Regular Meeting of Mayor and Council be 
amended to include an update on the Garbage Bylaw.” 

        Carried 

 

Motion 54/2024 Moved by Councillor Eastman, “THAT the amended 
agenda of the February 27, 2024, Regular Meeting of Mayor and council be 
approved as amended.” 

        Carried 

 

Previous Minutes   
Motion 55/2024 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT the minutes of 
the January 23, 2024, Regular Meeting of Council be accepted.” 
 
        Carried 

  

Financial  
a) Prepaid Cheque Listing – Cheques No. 20240084 to 20240120 

Motion 56/2024 Moved by Deputy Mayor Grimsdale, “THAT Cheques 
No. 20240084 to 20240120 be received for information.” 

           Carried 

 



Regular Council Meeting Minutes February 27, 2024  

b) Mayor and Council Remuneration Listing – January 2024 

Motion 57/2024 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT the Mayor and 
Council Remuneration Listing – January 2024 be received for information.” 

        Carried 

 

New Business 

a) Request for Decision Regarding Notice of Intent to Annex Land – 
Bentley Southeast Area Structure Plan 
 

Motion 58/2024 Moved by Deputy Mayor Grimsdale, “THAT Mayor 
and Council approve the Notice of Intent to Annex Lands as presented; AND 

THAT Mayor and Council authorize administration to submit the Notice of 
Intent to Lacombe County, the Minister of Municipal Affairs, and the Land 
and Property Rights Tribunal (LPRT), thereby starting the formal annexation 
process; AND 

THAT administration be authorized to forward copies of the Notice of Intent 
to the local MLA and affected local authorities.  

        Carried 

 

b) CPI Index Increase Summary (as per approved 2024 Budget) 

Motion 59/2024 Moved by Deputy Mayor Grimsdale, “THAT pursuant 
to Policy 07/04, Mayor and Council approve a cost-of-living increase of 
2.50% to the salary grid, to take effect March 1, 2024; AND 

THAT pursuant to Policy 40/2021, Council will opt out of an approved cost-
of-living increase for the 2024 budget year and remain at the same rates for 
compensation as 2023.” 

        Carried 

Correspondence 

a) Lacombe County Council Highlights February 8, 2024 
 

Motion 60/2024 Moved by Deputy Mayor Grimsdale, “THAT 
correspondence item a) be accepted as information.” 

        Carried 

Other Business 

a) CAO Evaluation 

Councillor Hansen asked Mayor Rathjen for an update on CAO evaluations. 
Mayor Rathjen indicated it was in process and that council should stay tuned 
for further information coming there way. 



Regular Council Meeting Minutes February 27, 2024  

b) Deputy Mayor Grimsdale asked for an update on the Garbage Bylaw 
rewrite. 

CAO Marc Fortais advised that the item was a Q2 objective as per the 2024 
Budget Presentation and therefore would be worked on in alignment with the 
objectives set out for Q2. This was sufficient for Deputy Mayor Grimsdale.  

 

Adjournment  
 Mayor Rathjen adjourned the February 27, 2024, Regular Council 

Meeting at 7:12pm 
  
         
  
_________________________    _________________________ 

Mayor Greg Rathjen      CAO Marc Fortais 









March 12, 2024, Unfinished Business – Oxford Park Public Washrooms 

 

 
 
 
Agenda Date:  March 12, 2024 
 
Agenda Item: Unfinished Business from January 9, 2024, December 12, 2023, September 12, 

2023, August 22, 2023, and February 13, 2024 -  Oxford School Historical Tribute 
and Oxford Park (Elks Park Re-design) – Public Washrooms 

       
 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT Mayor and Council provide directions for next steps regarding moving forward with Oxford Park 
Washroom Construction 
 
SUMMARY & BACKGROUND 
 
On September 27, 2022, at a Regular Meeting of Council, the difficult decision was made to undertake the 
demolition of Oxford School, the building was formally demolished in November of 2022. 
 
The decision to demolish Oxford School was not made lightly and was based on the significant costs to 
repair the building due to major concerns including deterioration of the roof, load-bearing brick walls and 
foundations. In addition to the decision to demolish the building, Mayor and Council also directed 
administration to complete a formalized concept plan and present that plan through an additional public 
information session in the future to seek further feedback and finalize design and cost estimates of park 
improvements. Also, once additional feedback was received and incorporated into a finalized design, it would 
be presented at a future council meeting in 2023. 
 
Since that time, the 2023 budget was approved in December of 2022, with a budget to undertake design 
work in the second quarter (May to June) of 2023 related to the Elks Park Re-Design.  
 
Administration hired  landscape architecture firm EDS (Environmental Design Solutions) based out of Spruce 
Grove, AB,  to undertake the design work and to develop concepts for the park. The firm was hired through a 
competitive process where quotes were obtained and evaluated to conduct the work. In addition,  EDS has 
substantial experience in environmental planning, urban design, and landscape architecture and has worked 
on many projects with Municipalities and for the public sector. 
 
The consultant has prepared recommendations through a report, which were informed through feedback 
obtained during the public information session held on June 29, 2022, regarding Oxford School. In addition, 
the consultant and administration held another engagement on June 14th, 2023, which was well attended by 
more than 60 residents and undertook a survey. The intention of that meeting was to obtain more detailed 
feedback regarding the preliminary concepts and options. The report and concept plans were presented to 
Mayor and council previously, and provided recommendations for next steps. 



March 12, 2024, Unfinished Business – Oxford Park Public Washrooms 

 
Overall, the recommended design included two specific concepts, a combination of these two park designs 
would prove to be the most supported by the community.  
 
Residents want to see a park that has: 
 

• amenities for all ages 
• honors the history of the site. 
• balances accessibility with cost 
• incorporates a skate park or other amenities for older children and teens. 
• preserves the existing basketball court and converting it to allow pickle ball or other sport use on the 

court. 
• playground that serves all ages but does not duplicate other offerings in town. 
• small splash pad with minimal maintenance and simple features 
• public washroom/changeroom building which services the park and features a drinking water 

fountain. 
• pavilion that pays tribute to Oxford School and reuses building materials 
• ice skating rink of adequate size to allow for winter enjoyment of the park. 
• inclusive seating and picnic opportunities 
• public art mural that pays homage to the unique history of the site and the town 
• accessible pathways 
• preservation of any healthy vegetation 
• appropriate placement of amenities to avoid conflict within the park and with neighboring land uses.  

 
It was recommended at that time that next steps should include refining the concept plan into a final vision 
plan with one final round of engagement to ensure that the community vision has been captured. Following 
buy in from the community the town could look to move forward through detailed design, seek out funding 
through grants, donations and partnerships and capital budget to proceed with detailed design and once all 
funding is secured proceed with construction in a phased approach. 
 
The report was previously presented to Mayor and Council on August 22, 2023, and September 12, 2023. 
Direction was given to Administration at that time through the following motion: 
 
Motion 204/2023 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT administration be directed to defer further 
work on Oxford Park, until budget time this year.” 
 
Subsequently administration, through consultation with Mayor and Council, was directed to prepare a plan to 
build a washroom on the property and add a mural to the park. This was presented to Mayor and Council 
through the 2024 budget process on December 12, 2023. During the budget deliberations, administration 
was directed to remove the Oxford Park bathroom from the preliminary budget due to the significant costs of 
$235,405.  
 
On January 9, 2024, the 2024 budget was brought back to Mayor and Council with the requested changes, 
including the removal of the washroom for Oxford Park from the budget. An additional motion was made by 
council that directed administration to add Oxford Park as a line item to the agenda for the first meeting in 
February. On February 13, 2024, Oxford Park was once again discussed, and the following motion was 
made: 
 



March 12, 2024, Unfinished Business – Oxford Park Public Washrooms 

Motion 45/2024 Moved by Councillor Hansen, “THAT the information presented for Oxford Park 
be received as information”; AND 
 
THAT administration bring back updated quotes regarding the cost to install a washroom facility in 
the park once received.” 
 
Administration has received a quote from Eagle Builders as follows: 
 
Option #1 (includes 300 s/f – 2 handicapped stalls and 2 regular stalls) 
 
Base Cost of Precast Concrete Building   $232,785.00 
Concrete Slab and Sidewalks     $  10,000.00 
Site Clearing and levelling grade    $    7,000.00 
 
     Total Cost (Option #1 - 4 stall)    $249,752.00  
 
Option #2 (includes 196.7 s/f – 2 larger handicapped stalls – barrier free) 
 
Base Cost of Precast Concrete Building    $165,147.00 
Concrete Slab and Sidewalks     $    7,000.00 
Site Clearing and levelling grade    $    7,000.00 
 
     Total Cost (Option #2 – 2 stall)    $179,147.00 
 
Option #3 (1 single stall – barrier free) 
 
Base Cost of Precast Concrete Building (20% less)  $132,118.00 
Concrete Slab and Sidewalks     $    5,000.00 
Site Clearing and levelling grade    $    5,000.00  
 
     Total Cost  (Option #3 – 1 stall)    $142,118.00 
 
Total Costs include the following: 
 

- Engineering design, building code and bylaw reviews 
- Architectural finishes, detailed code check, fire ratings, wall schedules, cross sections 
- Structure roof and framing plans, lateral analysis. 
- Shop drawings, structural site reviews. 
- Foundation plan, slab details and specifications 
- Includes Electrical including special circuits, lighting, controls , outlets and related site building service 

drawings and specifications. 
- Mechanical: including plumbing, heating, ventilation, air conditioning and related site/building services 

drawings and specifications. 
- Geotechnical Investigation  
- Subgrade compaction testing and concrete testing 
- Precast concrete solid roof engineered wall panels plus insulation. 
- Sheet metal roofing and insulation, non-vented soffit venting 
- Metal insulated exterior doors. 
- Curtain wall system with Lexan glass 



March 12, 2024, Unfinished Business – Oxford Park Public Washrooms 

- All painting of exterior and interior walls with anti-graffiti paint 
- Barrier free washrooms with signage 
- All service connections, floor drainage 
- Toilets, lavatory, and faucets 
- Mechanical room with mop service basin and sink and faucet. 
- Fire extinguishers. 
- All ducting and inline exhaust fans, 4 500 w baseboard heaters 
- Fresh air inlet, complete with weather hood, damper and bird screens, insulated ducting 
- All Electrical, panels, light fixtures wall packs for exterior lighting photocell 
 
- Based costs do not include the cost to pour the foundation, concrete materials cost for the 

foundation, or site clearing, which has been added to each of the options above. 
- 1 year warranty workmanship and materials 

 
BUDGET AND FINANCIAL 
 
Spent to date 
 
Concept Plan Creation, Public Engagement and Report (spent in 2023)   $13,840.00 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
1,) Bathroom Rendering and Design 
 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Marc Fortais, CAO 

















March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

 
 
Agenda Date: March 12, 2024 
Agenda Item: New Business: Monkey Top Fire 2024 – Cost Recovery  

 
 
 
 
LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENT/AUTHORITY 
 
The Municipal Government Act (MGA), RSA 2000, Chapter M-26 of the Revised Statutes of Alberta, 
as amended, Division 1 provides the Council of a Municipality may pass By-laws for the safety, health 
and welfare of people and the protection of people and property. Further, section 553(1)(g) and 553(2) 
of the MGA also allows for the transfer or any unpaid costs of fire extinguishment to be added to the 
tax roll if the municipality has passed a bylaw making the owner of a parcel liable for expenses and 
costs related to the municipality extinguishing fires on a parcel. 
 
Further Bylaw 128/2008 a bylaw of the Town of Bentley in the Province of Alberta to provide for the 
establishment and operation of a volunteer fire department (Attachment #1) and to provide for the 
protection and preservation of life and property within the Town of Bentley, was passed on August 
12th, 2008. 
 
October 14, 2014, Policy 50-2014 Bentley District Fire Department Fire Protection and Emergency 
Response, Part C – Charges for Fire and Emergency Response Equipment and Personnel 
(Attachment #2) was approved. The policy also provides guidance for rates and costs that can be 
recovered in relation to fire and emergency response equipment and personnel. 
 
SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND 
 
On January 16, 2024, at approximately 1:30am, first responders from the Bentley Fire Department 
responded to a fire at the Monkey Top Saloon in Bentley. Fire Fighting efforts were supported by 
Bentley, Lacombe County, City of Lacombe, Blackfalds, and Eckville Fire Departments.  
 
It was a sad day for Bentley, as we lost another important historical building in the community. Just 
over a year ago we also experienced the loss of the iconic grain elevator and on January 16th we lost 
the Monkey Top.  
 
The original building Putland and Thorp site was destroyed by fire in 1919. The gentleman who owned 
that store was Archie Putland and Frank (Cappy) Thorp. Cappy was the first Mayor when Bentley was 
first incorporated into a village in 1915. The Putland and Thorp building was replaced by the Bentley 
Co-Operative under the management of Mr. Bolton, and lastly by Chas MacDougall. The business 
was sold to WM. A Holmes in 1933 and operated as Bentley Mercantile. The building stood for many 
years and most recently, until January 16, 2024, as the Monkey Top a staple for residents, tourists, 
and visitors regardless of if they were the leather worn, done it all biker or the time worn seen it all 
senior or families having a meal with their kids after checking out the amazing businesses or farmers 
market in Bentley. It was a place of celebration for our hockey and ball teams and for the parents who 
drive their kids to and from games and practices. The Monkey Top was not just a place to gather, but 



March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

a place where it did not matter what your background or style is. It was a place of spirited declaration 
of independence and togetherness.  
 
The property owner has worked hard to ensure that the site was cleaned up in a timely manner, while 
working with their insurance to address their settlement and claim. The Town of Bentley would like to 
thank the property owner for working with their insurance company to undertake the cleanup efforts 
diligently and as quickly as possible. The loss of the Monkey Top is significant to the community and 
to the property owner.  
 
Policy 50/2014 – Bentley District Fire Department Fire Protection and Emergency Response 
was adopted and approved on October 14, 2014. The policy provides some guidance regarding rates 
of charge for fire and emergency response equipment and personnel responding to a fire.  
 
The policy is also written in such a way, that it is not clear: 
 
Part C – Charges for Fire and Emergency Response Equipment and Personnel states: 
 

a) Subject to the exceptions listed, nor charge will be made for fire or emergency responses to 
residents and ratepayers of the Town of Bentley, Lacombe County, and other municipalities of 
which a mutual aid agreement is in effect.* 
 

b) A charge will be levied for responses involving; 
i. a motor vehicle accident 

 
ii. a fire or emergency response involving a railway or originating on a railway right 

of way. 
 

c) The rate of charge for fire and emergency response equipment referred to in Section b) is as 
follows: 

i. Town or County Engine    $500.00 per hour 
 

ii. Rescue Truck      $500.00 per hour 
 

iii. Equipment & supplies other than the Engine  costs plus. 
or Rescue Truck  15% administration 
 

iv. Personnel other than Fire Department Members costs plus 
15% administration 

 
d) The rate of charge referred to in Section c) above shall be applied for the period commencing 

from when the vehicles and equipment leave the firehall until the vehicles and equipment are 
back in the fire hall and deemed to be in service, rounded up to the next one-half hour. 
 

e) At the discretion of the Chief Administrative Officer; 
i. The charge levied for response may be adjusted based on the level of service 

provided at the incident. 
 

ii. Other costs may be charged for items including but not limited to: 
 

• Replacement of basic supplies such as foam 



March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

• Means and refreshments for the firefighters. 
• Equipment fuel costs  
• Lost of damaged equipment and protective clothing  
• Fire investigation costs. 
• Specialty services 

 
It should be noted that there is no formalized mutual aid agreement in place. There are 
partnership agreements such as LREMP, but they do not specifically outline fees and charges 
for mutual aid.  

 
Part C item a above is intended to mean that residents and ratepayers of Lacombe County and Town 
of Bentley will not be charged for emergency response equipment and personal responding to a fire if 
a mutual aid agreement exists. There is no record in Bentley or Lacombe County of any mutual aid 
agreement being established. In addition, section e indicates that at the discretion of the CAO a 
charge may be levied for response and adjusted based on the level of service provided at the 
incident.  
 
Administration has reviewed Lacombe County’s Fire Services Bylaw 1337/21 (Attachment #3), under 
section 15. Recovery of Costs it states: 
 
15.1 Where a fire department has taken any action whatsoever for the purposes of providing fire 
protection and emergency response services in or outside of the County, the County may charge any 
fees and costs so incurred to any or all of the following persons, namely; 
 

a) the person or persons causing or contributing to the fire; or 
 

b) the owner or occupant of the parcel of land or any other thing in respect to which the action 
    was taken. 
 

and all other persons charged are jointly and severally liable for payment of fees and costs to the 
County.  
 
An additional review of other communities in the area was also undertaken, to understand if they too 
bill in these situations and if they would seek reimbursement of cost for fire response from a private 
landowner or their insurance for fires that occur on their private property. In some cases, 
municipalities would not bill and would cover all associated response costs through taxation. The 
following were the municipalities we checked with: 
 
City of Lacombe  Bills for responses – uses provincial rate table for equipment charges. 
Town of Eckville  Policy in place to bill – would determine if fire were in town. 
Town of Sylvan Lake  Has not billed for mutual aid in past. 
Village of Alix   Bill for response according to established policy 
Village of Clive  Bills for response according to established policy 
Town of Rimbey Not responsible for fire services costs until 2030 – Ponoka County 

handles fire services. Ponoka County does not bill from what they 
understand. 

 
 
 



March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

Administration also followed up with Rob de Pruis (National Director, Consumer & Industry Relations 
with the Insurance Bureau of Canada. Mr. de Pruis indicated that although they are seeing a rising 
trend in municipalities that are billing for structure fire response costs, these are a minority across 
Canada. He indicated that typically if a business or residence is insured for fire response costs, there 
is typically an upper limit on the amount that can be paid. In instances where a large bill goes to the 
property owner, it can have an unintended consequence of impacting the claims ratings and cause 
insurance premiums to rise within a community if there is an insurance payout for those costs.  
However, administration has provided this report in alignment with the established bylaw and policy 
that provides direction to prepare a bill for the response to the property owner.  
 
FINANCIAL 
 
Charges Billed by Lacombe County (Invoiced to the Town of Bentley) 
 
Lacombe Fire Department Charges (January 16 & 17, 2024) 
 Pumper/Ladder Unit #4 (8hrs @ $700.00)  $5,600.00 

Utility #2 (8 hrs. @ $205.00)    $1,640.00 
Tender #3 (12.5 @ $700.00)    $8,750.00 
Tower #1 (11.75 @ $700.00)    $8,225.00 
Pumper/Ladder Unit #4 (1.75 @ $700.00)  $1,225.00 

 Total Lacombe County Charges     $25,440.00 
 
Blackfalds Personnel Charges (21 hours total)       
 Fire Chief (3hrs @ $35.77)    $   107.31 
 Captain 1 (7.50 @ $31.42)    $   235.65 
 Class A Firefighter 1 ( 7.50 @ $26.69)  $   200.18 
 Probationary Firefighter (3.00 @ $17.40)  $     52.20 
 Total Blackfalds Charges      $     595.34 
 
DB Bobcat Charges (Hoe & Excavator)       
 Hoe Mobilization (1 hr @ $300.00)   $   300.00 
 John Deere Exca (11 hr @ $185.00)   $2,035.00 
 GST       $   116.75 
 Total DB Bobcat Charges      $  2,451.75 
Bentley Fire Personnel       $  6,827.18 
Eckville Fire           

Tender (10.25 hrs @ $500.00)     $  5,125.00 
 

Total Charges Billed by Lacombe County       $40,439.27 
 
Equipment Time Town of Bentley 
 
January 16, 2024 

Engine (14.50 hrs @ $500.00 )   $7,250.00 
Rescue (14.50 hrs @ $350.00)   $5,075.00 
Rapid (14.50 hrs @ $350.00)    $5,075.00 
Command (14.50 hrs @ $350.00)   $5,075.00 
Engine (1.50 hrs @ $500.00)    $   750.00 
Rescue ( 1.50 hrs @ $350.00)   $   525.00 
Total January 16, 2024, Additional Equipment   $23,750.00  



March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

 
January 17, 2024 

Engine (1.50 hrs @ $500.00)    $   750.00 
Rapid (1.50 hrs @ $350.00)    $   525.00 
Engine (2.50 hrs @ $500.00)    $1,250.00 
Rapid (2.50 hrs @ $350.00)    $   875.00 
Command (2.50 hrs @ $350.00)   $   875.00 

 Total January 17, 2024, Additional Equipment   $  4,275.00  
 
January 23, 2024 
 Rapid (6.00 hrs @ $350.00)      $  2,100.00 
 
Total Equipment Time Town of Bentley     $30,125.00 
 
TOTAL RECOVERABLE COSTS (Based on actual calculations)   $70,564.27 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION 
 
Due to the lack of clarity in the policy regarding billing for Bentley Fire Department response and time, 
Administration is recommending that no time be billed for Bentley fire Equipment. This would mean 
that $30,125.00 as outlined above will not be billed. Administration is only recommending that the 
amount charged and billed by Lacombe County for mutual aid costs, which also includes paid 
volunteer time for Bentley Fire fighters be charged, this amounts to a bill of $40,439.27. 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
THAT Mayor and Council authorize CAO Marc Fortais to issue an invoice to the property owner of the 
property located at 5002 50TH Ave (Lot 4, Block 18, Plan 5085ET) in the amount of $40,439.27 AND 
 
THAT the invoice to be issued is intended to recover costs of fire response (staff time and 
equipment costs invoiced to the Town of Bentley by Lacombe County) throughout January 2024, 
and in relation to the Monkey Top Fire, which occurred on said property and for which the recoverable 
costs have been charged in accordance with Bylaw 128/2008 from the Town of Bentley and Bylaw 
1337/21 Lacombe County; AND 
 
THAT the amount invoiced and payable by the property owner be payable within 120 days from the 
date of issue of the invoice; AND 
 
THAT if the invoice remains unpaid after 120 days, the amount be transferred to the associated 
property tax account in accordance with the Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000, Chapter M-26 of 
the Revised Statutes of Alberta, Section 553(1)(g) 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 

1) Mayor and Council could consider offering a refund or rebate of all or a portion of the amounts 
billed, tied to a development permit. Should the existing owner of the Monkey top consider 
rebuilding. This would mean that if a development permit is applied for, a condition of that 
permit could include a refund of all, or a portion of the amount billed in relation to the Fire 
response for the Monkey Top specifically tied to the issuance of an occupancy permit for the 
reopening of the building. The logic for this is that future taxes would pay for the equipment 
costs associated with the fire and would create no burden for other taxpayers. 
 



March 12, 2024  – New Business – 2024 Monkey Top Fire – Cost Recovery 

2) No billing is prepared for the Monkey top; however, the Town of Bentley will still be required to 
pay $40,439.27 in fees related to mutual aid billed by Lacombe County. This was an 
unbudgeted item for 2024 and funds would need to be found to cover these costs. This could 
result in an overall tax increase to the public for the 2024 tax year.  
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1) Bylaw 128/2008 a bylaw of the Town of Bentley in the Province of Alberta to provide for the 
establishment and operation of a volunteer fire department. 
 

2) Policy 50/2014 Bentley District Fire Department Fire Protection and Emergency Response, 
Part C – Charges for Fire and Emergency Response Equipment and Personnel  
 

3) Bylaw 1337/21 Fire Protection and Emergency Response Bylaw – Lacombe County  
 

4) Breakdown of Costs associated with Monkey Top Fire Response 
 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        Marc Fortais, CAO    



































































Town of Bentley

LUB REVIEW – KEY AMENDMENTS Prepared by

Vahid Ghomashchi, Senior Planner

Parkland Community Planning 

Services

March 2024

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

1



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB – is LIVE and DYNAMIC

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 2



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

1. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES and GROWTH MANAGEMENT

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 3



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

1. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES and GROWTH MANAGEMENT

2. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC and ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 4



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

1. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES and GROWTH MANAGEMENT

2. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC and ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

3. NEW PUBLIC INTEREST, COMMUNITY WANTS and NEEDS

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 5



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

1. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES and GROWTH MANAGEMENT

2. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC and ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

3. NEW PUBLIC INTEREST, COMMUNITY WANTS and NEEDS

4. NEW TECHNOLOGY

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 6



WHY LUB UPDATE?

 LUB Should Be Updated to Respond to:

1. DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES and GROWTH MANAGEMENT

2. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC and ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGES

3. NEW PUBLIC INTEREST, COMMUNITY WANTS and NEEDS

4. NEW TECHNOLOGY

5. NEW CHALLENGES and ISSUES

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 7



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

  

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

8



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

 LAND USE PLANNING PRINCIPLES

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

9



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

 RATIONAL PLANNING PRINCIPLES

 BENTLEY’S MDP and IDP REVIEW

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

10



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

 RATIONAL PLANNING PRINCIPLES

 THE TOWN’S MDP and IDP REVIEW

 BEST PRACTICES REVIEW – Similar-Sized Municipalities

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

11



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

 RATIONAL PLANNING PRINCIPLES

 THE TOWN’S MDP and IDP REVIEW

 BEST PRACTICES REVIEW – Similar-Sized Municipalities

 CONTEXT (Town of Bentley)

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

12



KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT

 RATIONAL PLANNING PRINCIPLES

 THE TOWN’S MDP and IDP REVIEW

 BEST PRACTICES REVIEW – Similar-Sized Municipalities

 REVIEW THE CONTEXT (Town of Bentley)

 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

13



PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

14

1. Structural Change

2. Definitions

3. Development Authority and Subdivision 
Authority definitions

4. Administration

5. Secondary Suite

6. Short-term rental (Air B&B)

7. Shipping Container Regulations

8. Direct Control District

9. Murals on external walls of buildings

10. Fabric Covered Structure

11. Outdoor Storage in non-residential districts

12. Site grading Regulations

13. Temporary Use

14. Parking Requirements

15. New Part – Signs

16. Change R2A District to RG District

17. Add Small Wind Energy as Discretionary use

18. Sign Regulations

19. Hot Tub

20. Site Projection

21. Solar Collectors

22. Wind Turbines

23. Schedule B: Development Permit Fees

24. Schedule C: Enforcement



LUB Structure

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 15

CURRENT PROPOSED

PART ONE: INTERPRETATION PART ONE: LEGAL AND INTERPRETATION

PART TWO: ADMINISTRATION PART TWO: ADMINISTRATION AND DEVELOPMENT APPROVAL

PART THREE: DEVELOPMENT PERMITS, 

CONTRAVENTION AND APPEAL

PART THREE: DEVELOPMENT PERMITS, CONTRAVENTION AND 

APPEAL

PART FOUR: SCHEDULES PART FOUR: GENERAL LAND USE REGULATIONS

SCHEDULE A:  LAND USE DISTRICT MAP PART FIVE: (NEW) - USE SPECIFIC REGULATIONS

SCHEDULE B:  SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS PART SIX: VEHICLES AND PARKING

SCHEDULE C:  LAND USE DISTRICT REGULATIONS PART SEVEN: SIGNS

PART EIGHT: DISTRICTS

SCHEDULE A: LAND USE MAP

SCHEDULE B: DEVELOPMENT PERMIT FEES

SCHEDULE C: ENFORCEMENT FINES 



DEFINITIONS
Accessory Building/Structure

Accessory Residential Building

Accessory Suite

Accessory use

Appeal Board 

Auto Body Shop 

Automotive Service, Sales, Wash

Brewery, Winery and Distillery

Building Inspection Report

Building Setback

Business Licence

Campground

Cannabis

Cannabis Production Facility 

Cannabis Retail Sales

Childcare Services

Corner parcel

Deck

Density

Development Agreement

Duplex

Easement

Eating Establishment

Encroachment

Fabric Covered structure 

Farmers Market

Group Home

Landscaping

Lane

Lot/Parcel Coverage

Lot Width

Occupancy Permit

Off-Site Levy

outdoor storage

Outdoor Storage Yard

Outline Plan

Rear Yard Setback

Recreational Vehicle Sales and Service

Retail Sales/Service

SDAB

Restaurant

Setback

Short Term Residential Rental

Sign(s)

Side Yard

Small Wind Energy

Solar Panel

Side Yard Setback

Temporary Commercial Sales/Service

Temporary Use

Transformed Shipping Container

Variance

Worship Facility

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

16



Development Authority and Subdivision Authority
 2.1 Development Authority (New)

(1) Pursuant to the Town of Bentley Development Authority Bylaw, the Development Authority 
shall exercise powers and perform duties on behalf of the municipality in accordance with the Act.

(2) The Development Authorities are:

(a) Development Officer

(b) Municipal Planning Commission

(c) Town Council

 2.4 Subdivision Authority  (New)

 (1) The position of Subdivision Authority, as established by “Subdivision Authority Bylaw, 
Bylaw No 208/2019 shall perform duties on behalf of the municipality in accordance with 
the Act, the Land Use Bylaw and all relevant Town of Bentley planning documents.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

17



Administration

2.7 Establishment of Fees

The Development Permit application fee and fees for other matters arising 

through this Land Use Bylaw shall be established by resolution of Council. Council 

may at any time, by resolution, increase, decrease or establish new fees for 

matters covered by this Bylaw.

The Development Permit application fees and fees for other matters are 

established in Schedule B (New)

Allows Council to amend the development fees by resolution only. No need to amend the Bylaw

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

18



Enforcement

2.9 Enforcement (New Section)

(1) A Development Officer pursuant to the Bylaw is a Designated Officer to carry 

out inspections, remedial actions, and enforcement of this Bylaw according to 

the Act.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

19



Direct Control District

2.10 Direct Control Districts (New) 

The purpose of a Direct Control District is to provide for Development with unique 

characteristics, unusual site constraints or innovative designs that require specific 

considerations that are unavailable under any other land use Districts. 

Rationale: Direct Control District offers 

 Customized adaptability that standard zoning regulations may not provide. 

 Specific Development Standards for Specific Proposals and New Initiatives. 

 More Responsive, Flexible and Dynamic approach to land use planning.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

20



Part Four – General Land Use Regulations

 No amendments

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 21



Part Five – Use Specific Regulations

Accessory Suite (New)

An Accessory Suite may be built in one of the following:

i) A Secondary Suite: Attached to the principal dwelling,

ii) A Backyard Suite which is detached and located in the rear yard of a site, and it may be:

  a) A Garden Suite: Detached, located at the ground level

  b) A Garage Suite: located above a detached Garage

 

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

22



Shipping Container Regulations

New regulations:

 The use of a Shipping Container/Sea Can Storage Container as an Accessory Building:

 Requires a Development Permit;

 May only be permitted in Industrial, Public, and Rural districts;

 Existing shipping container(s) in Commercial districts is allowed;

 It’s not a Temporary Building.

 Shall not be used for the storage of Dangerous Goods.

 Shall not be used for Residential Purposes. 

 To promote businesses and economic development, under specific circumstances the 
Development Authority may approve applications for Transformed and Stacked 
Containers. 

 Stacked shipping container means a vertical arrangement of multiple containers for a 
specific use.

 Stacked containers need a building permit and shall be certified by the Canadian 
Standards Association.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

23



“Transformed Shipping Container” means a modified shipping container that its 

architectural function and appearance with installing new windows, exterior finishing, 

painting etc. has significantly improved and meets the National Safety Standards.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 24



Outdoor Storage in non-residential districts

 The land used must be screened from adjacent roads;   2.0 < Height < 2.5 m

 Shipping Containers/Sea Can Storage Containers may only be located in industrial, public, Rural 

and commercial (only existing) districts providing that:

 They are not located in a front yard or exterior side yard;

 They are not stacked. Under special circumstances, if the containers are transformed to an innovative 

character, this requirement may be exempted upon Municipal Planning Commission approval.

 They are not used to store any dangerous materials;

 They are screened from view to the satisfaction.

 There are no visual or material impacts on neighbouring properties.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

25



Murals on external walls of buildings

PART FOUR - General Land Use Regulations…

 4-2 Building, Design, Character, and Appearance

 (c) Any specific exterior wall painting and murals on buildings exceeding an 

area of three-square feet are subject to a formal development application process 

and approval of the Development Authority. (New)

          

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 26



Fabric Covered Structure

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

27

Current Proposed

1(7) Soft-Sided Buildings 4-7 Fabric Covered Structure (Renamed)

(v) setback a minimum of 3.0 m 

(vii) fully enclosed with closable doors on the ends

in a Residential District a Fabric Covered Structure SHALL NOT:

i. Exceed one (1) Accessory Building

ii. Be connected to any Utilities; exceed 20.44 m2

iii.   cause or create a nuisance by way of noise, vibration or dust 

In a Non-residential district: it may exceed one and may be connected to utilities



Hot Tub (New)

A Private Pool or Decorative Pond or Hot Tub SHALL BE:

 Secured against entry of the public by being enclosed by a 1.82 m (6 ft.) fence 

 Designed to deter children from climbing over or crawling through or under it to gain access.

  Fenced or have in place a lockable lid.

 A Building permit shall be required for all Private Pool and/or Decorative Ponds or Hot Tubs in excess 
of 60 cm in dept.

 at least 1 m (3.28 ft) from the side and rear property lines;

 located in a Rear or Side Yard on an interior lot; and

 on a corner lot, located in a Rear Yard or the Side Yard not adjacent to a Street. 

Must not be located in a Front Yard, unless:

 is 600 mm or less in depth; and

 is located a minimum of 1 m (3.28 ft) from the front and side property lines.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

28



Short-term Rental (Air B&B) – (New)

Short-Term Residential Rental

 Rental of an entire dwelling

 Rental of individual rooms or spaces in a home where the host also lives.

 A Home-based Business Licence is required

 A Development Permit for a major home-based business is required if the 
operator/host resides at the rental premises and is renting out more than two 
sleeping units. This includes situations where the rental accommodation is a 
separate secondary or garden suite.

 A Building Permit may be required if there are changes to the physical floor 
plan of the property. All applicable safety requirements and building codes 
must be met.

 Operators must complete, sign and submit a “Short-Term Residential Rental 
Accommodation Rules”.

 Operators must provide guests with a copy of the “Short-Term Residential 
Rental Accommodation Rules: Information for Guests guide”.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

29



Solar Collectors
A Solar Collector shall:

 Not produce glare for Adjacent Sites;

 Meet the height requirements of the 

district in which it is located; and

 Be located in the Rear Yard when 

located on the ground of a property in 

a residential District.

 When a Solar Collector is located on 

the ground floor of a property in any 

District, the Setbacks and screening 

shall be to the satisfaction of the 

Development Authority.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 30



Small Wind Energy – Type A (New)

Wind Turbines

All Small Wind Turbine Type A systems shall:

Be setback at least 150m from the Property Line of any residential 

parcel;

Be certified by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA);

Be supported by any required studies at the discretion of the 

Development Authority; and

Include provisions to prevent unauthorized climbing of a structure.

With a rated capacity of less than 10 KW, the wind turbine shall not 

exceed noise greater than 35 dB as measured at the closest Dwelling at 

any time.

With a rated capacity of 10 KW or more, the wind turbine shall meet 

the noise control requirements as outlined in Alberta Utilities 

Commission’s Rule 012.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 31



Small Wind Energy – Type B (New)

All Small Wind Turbine Type B systems shall:

 Have a turbine height (including the rotor blade) that is less than 12.0m;

 Have a minimum distance of 36.0m to the nearest Property Line;

 Have a minimum distance of 12.0m to the nearest play structure;

 Not exceed noise greater than 35 dB to the closest residential Dwelling at any time, 

 Have a maximum capacity of 100.00 KW;

 Be certified by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA); and

 Be supported by any required studies at the discretion of the Development Authority.

In the current LUB, Wind Turbine is not identified as permitted or discretionary use in any 

district. 

It is suggested as a Discretionary Use in the RG District. 

Council may decide on how to permit this use in any district. 

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

32



Signs - New Part 

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

33



Sign Regulations

Calculation of Sign Area (New)

 The area of the Sign face where the content is intended 

to be placed, not including any support structure;

 Only one (1) side of a double-faced Sign is used for 

calculating Sign area.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

34



Sign Regulations

Sign regulations Variance and Relaxation (New)

 The Development Officer may relax the maximum size and or dimensions of an 

individual size and the maximum number of signs for a single site up to ten (10) 

percent of the provisions of this bylaw.

 Any variance greater than ten (10) percent shall be approved by the Municipal 

Planning Board.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

35



Site grading Regulations (New)

• The property owner shall be responsible for ensuring that 

grading is maintained over time to provide effective 

drainage. 

• Where maintenance of a common drainage swale or path 

at a property line is required, the responsibility of 

maintenance lies with the owners of both parcels. 

• Where a drainage swale or path is established within an 

easement or right-of-way on a parcel, swale grades shall 

be maintained, and the swale shall be kept free of any 

obstructions.

• Where retaining walls are necessary or proposed in any 

development, such walls shall be developed with 

professional quality and shall not negatively affect 

abutting parcels due to site elevations or drainage.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 36



Site Projection (New)

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 37

Any projection and/or locating any structure such 

as an Air Condition System on any side of a yard 

Must Meet all Alberta Building Code and Fire Code 

requirements in addition to this Bylaw setback 

regulations.



Temporary Use (New)

5.18 Temporary Uses

(1) Temporary uses, buildings, or structures may be permitted in all Districts at the 

discretion of the Development Authority, provided that temporary buildings or structures 

are not placed on permanent foundations and provided that the use, building or structure 

is listed as a permitted, discretionary, or similar use in the relevant land use district.

(2) Except as otherwise noted in this Bylaw, temporary uses, buildings, or structures 

may be approved for a period of up to three (3) years. Renewal of these approvals may 

be permitted but such renewals shall not extend the total length of a temporary approval 

beyond ten (10) years.

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

38



Parking Requirements – New Part
USES PARKING SPACES (Current) PARKING SPACES (Proposed)

C
O

M
M

ER
C

IA
L

Indoor merchandise sales 3.5/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft.) No change

Offices 2.5/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft. No change

Repair services 2.0/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft.) No change

Restaurants, lounges and taverns 1.0/4 seats No change

Vehicle and equipment sales 2.0/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft.) No change

IN
D

U
ST

R
IA

L Manufacturing industry Minimum provision 6.0 No change

Office area 2.0/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft.) No change

Other area 1.0/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft. No change

Storage area 0.7/100 m2 (1,076.4 sq.ft.) No change

P
U

B
LI

C

Places of worship 1.0/4 seats No change

Public assembly buildings 1.0/4 seat No change

Schools - Elementary and junior high 1.0/1 worker 1 per classroom

Senior high  1.0/1 worker and 1.0/20 students 4 per classroom

R
ES

ID
EN

TI
A

L

Senior citizens housing 2.0/3 units of accommodation 0.5 stalls per resident room

Apartment 1.5 per unit plus 1 visitor parking per 6 units

Accessory Suite 1.0 stall per Studio/ 1 bedroom Accessory 
Suite; 2.0 stalls per 2 or more-bedroom 
Accessory Suite

Bed & Breakfast / Short term rental 1.0 per unit

All other 2.0/dwelling 2.0 per dwelling

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

39



Urban Reserve District - New Provisions for the Proposed Annexation 

Purpose
To ensure continued agricultural production and to provide for the continuation of exiting and non-permanent land uses, until overall plans for future uses are 
prepared and approved by Council.

Permitted Uses

• Accessory building (for permitted use only); Agricultural building
• Agricultural operations, excluding confined feeding operations, 
• Home Occupation, Municipal and/or Public Services,  Small Wind Energy System, Bee keeping, 
• Existing Dwellings and other related improvements; Home based business, minor

Discretionary Uses
• Accessory building (for discretionary use); Accessory suite, Recreational equipment storage;
• Agri-tourism business; Alternative energy;, commercial Bed and breakfast
• Cemetery; Community facility Crematorium
• Dwelling, secondary suite; 
• Existing Dwelling and future dwelling and other related improvements on Lots 1 & 2, Block 1, Plan 132-3883
• Home based business, major; Kennel; Mechanized excavation, stripping and grading Outdoor storage
• Recreation facilities, outdoor Riding and boarding facility Solar collectors
• Special event, major; Special event, minor; Tourist home
• Wind Turbines
• Any other use that is compatible, in the opinion of the Development Officer, with the permiced
 or discretionary uses described above and that will not:
  1. Materially alter the Use of the land from that existing on the date the land was  
 designated to this Land Use District, or
  2. Conflict with future urban expansion 40



…Urban Reserve District - New Provisions for the Proposed Annexation 

Minimum Parcel Area
All the land contained in the existing Certificate of Title area, unless otherwise approved by the
Subdivision Authority. 
Subdivision of a first parcel out, for an agricultural parcel subdivision for an intensive or specialized agricultural operation, for a 
fragmented parcel subdivision, or to adjust property lines in anticipated of urban development may be considered, having regard to 
any applicable statutory plan and future use of the parcel and the form of future subdivision and development.

Setbacks
 • Setbacks from rights-of-way shall be in accordance with this Bylaw
 • Setback from any Property Line adjoining a Lot located in any other Land Use District in this
  Bylaw shall be a minimum of 22.86 m (75.00 n)
 • Setback from the property boundary in the Urban Reserve District shall be 7.62 m (25.00 n)

Supplementary Regulations
All permitted uses must comply with the regulations in Schedule B. The regulations for all other
uses shall be determined by the Development Authority.

41



THANK YOU

QUESTIONS?

Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 42



Land Use Bylaw Review - 2024 

43



 
HIGHLIGHTS OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

FEBRUARY 22, 2024 
  
 
AGRICULTURE SERVICE BOARD MEETING NOTES 
Council reviewed the meeting notes of the January 17, 2024 Lacombe County Agriculture Service 
Board (ASB) meeting and approved recommendations as follows: 
 

• That the Drought Support Programming Report be received for information. 
• That the 2023 Insect Surveillance Report be received for information.  
• That the 2024 Agricultural Services Operational Plan be received for information. 
• That the County Manager be directed to explore options to support veterinary students 

practicing within Lacombe County.  
• That Council consideration be given for an Agricultural Service Board Member to participate 

as a member of the Alternative Land Use Services (ALUS) Lacombe Public Advisory 
Committee. 

• That the 2024 Provincial ASB Conference Resolutions be received for information.  
• That the Agricultural Plastics Volume Report be received for information. 
• That the 2024 – 2028 ALUS Lacombe Strategic Plan be received for information. 

 
 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING NOTES 
The following recommendations from the Committee of the Whole meeting held on February 6, 2024 
received the approval of Council: 
 

• That the Dust Control Program Overview be received for information; and further, that the 
County Manager be directed to provide a report and recommendation regarding subsidy 
options, the number of calcium applications, and the impact of loopholes (ie. landowner 
applications on behalf of commercial or industrial businesses to mitigate cost) related to the 
Dust Control Program, for consideration at a future Council meeting.   

• That the FCSS Funding Allocation and Program Review be received for information; and 
further, that the County Manager be directed to provide a report with further details about 
current FCSS servicing in Lacombe County as well as home support options for outlying 
communities, for consideration at a future Council meeting.   

• That the Golf Carts on Municipal Roads Presentation be received for information; and 
further, that the County Manager be directed to prepare a report and recommendation, 
identifying lobbying efforts and next steps in advancing the issue of golf carts on municipal 
roads (including writing a letter to Minister of ATEC as well as speaking notes to address the 
Minister at the Spring RMA Convention), for consideration at a future Council meeting.   

• That the Elizabeth Lake Presentation be received for information; and further, that the 
County Manager be directed to provide a report and recommendation regarding the City’s 
request for County support of the Elizabeth Lake Outlet Project, for consideration at a future 
Council meeting. 

• That the presentation on Environmental Regulatory Requirements for Municipal Operations 
be received for information. 

• That the discussion regarding Brownfield Solar sites be received for information. 
• That the Lacombe Lake Water Level discussion be received for information; and further that 

the County Manager be directed to send a response letter to the Alexander Family advising 



                                                                                      
 
 
  
 

 RR 3, Lacombe, AB T4L 2N3 (Tel) 403.782.6601 (Fax) 403.782.3820 www.lacombecounty.com 
 

that the County’s position remains that the control structure is being operated in accordance 
with the lake levels set out in the 1970 Grant of Easement and that no further action will be 
taken at this time.   

• That Mark Sproule, Manager of Community Peace Officer Services, be directed to draft a 
response to the Provincial Police Advisory Questionnaire on behalf of Council for 
consideration at a future Council meeting.   

 
TOWN OF BLACKFALDS REQUEST TO ACQUIRE AN INTEREST IN LAND 
By resolution of Council, Lacombe County consents to the Town of Blackfalds purchasing an 
approximate 9.02-acre parcel of land within the County located in Lot 5, Block 1, Plan 152 0048 (SE 3-
40-27-W4M) to facilitate the construction of a stormwater management system. 
 
CITY OF LACOMBE ELIZABETH LAKE OUTLET PROJECT 
Lacombe County will provide the City of Lacombe with a letter of support, in principle, to change the 
portion of the Elizabeth Lake boundary that affects the southern end of Wildrose Street; and further, 
that Lacombe County supports the City of Lacombe engaging with the Lacombe County private land 
owner to change the Elizabeth Lake bed-and-shore boundary. 
 
POLICY RC(9) COUNTY SUPPORT OF COMMUNITY PROGRAMS, EVENTS, & ACTIVITIES 
UPDATE 
Council approved the following 2024 RC(9) funding applications: 
 

 



                                                                                      
 
 
  
 

 RR 3, Lacombe, AB T4L 2N3 (Tel) 403.782.6601 (Fax) 403.782.3820 www.lacombecounty.com 
 

 
ALBERTA COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP GRANT APPLICATION – REGIONAL RECREATION 
FACILITY PLAN 
The City of Lacombe has proposed the development of a long-range recreation facility plan for the City 
of Lacombe, Lacombe County, and the Town of Blackfalds, to be funded through an Alberta 
Partnership Grant, with the intent of developing a future multi-use facility.   This topic will be further 
discussed at a future Council Committee of the Whole meeting. 
 
RCMP ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLANS 
At the request of the RCMP Detachment Commanders in Bashaw, Blackfalds, Ponoka, Rimbey, and 
Sylvan Lake, Council identified crime reduction, road safety, communication, and mental health and 
wellness as priorities for inclusion in the Detachment Commander’s Annual Performance Plans.   
Councillor Kreil, Councillor Weenink, and Mark Sproule, Manager of Community Peace Officer 
Services, were authorized as the Lacombe County representatives to meet with the Blackfalds and 
Sylvan Lake Detachment Commanders to discuss these priorities. 
 
ASPELUND JOINT ECONOMIC AREA WATER AND WASTEWATER SERVICING 
The County Manager was authorized to enter into an agreement with the Town of Blackfalds for the 
upgrade of the Broadway Reservoir and Pumps to service the Lacombe County and Town of Blackfalds 
Joint Economic Area.  The County’s share of this project, estimated at $2,540,000, will be funded from 
the Aspelund Water Offsite Levy Reserve. 
 
BYLAW NO. 1408/24 RESERVE LAND DESIGNATION 
Bylaw No. 1408/24, a bylaw of Lacombe County to designate certain lands as municipal reserve, 
environmental reserve and public utility lot received first reading and approval to hold a public hearing. 
A public hearing for Bylaw No. 1408/24 will be held on April 25, 2024 commencing at 9:00 a.m. at 
Lacombe County Council Chambers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Next Regular Council Meeting is 
March 14, 2024 – 9:00 a.m. 

 
Next Committee of the Whole Meeting is 

April 2, 2024 – 9:00 a.m. 
 

Lacombe County Administration Building 
 

**For more details from Lacombe County Council meetings, please refer to the meeting 
minutes. All meeting minutes are posted on the website (www.lacombecounty.com)  

after approval.  

http://www.lacombecounty.com/


 
 
Media Release 
 
Bentley Town Council Issues No2ce of Intent to Annex Lands 
 
March 8, 2024 
 
At its mee2ng on February 27, 2024, the Council of the Town of Bentley gave its approval to a 
No2ce of Intent to Annex Land and directed Administra2on to formally no2fy Lacombe County. 
 
The No2ce is also being sent to the Land and Property Rights Tribunal and the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs.  Copies of the No2ce are being provided to the MLA, provincial ministries, the 
school district, and u2lity companies. 
 
This ac2on follows more than two years of ac2vity related to the Bentley-Lacombe Joint 
Development Ini2a2ve, which resulted in the prepara2on of the Southeast Bentley Area 
Structure Plan (ASP) that was adopted by Lacombe County Council in November 2023.  This 
Area Structure Plan provides for commercial and industrial development on about 200 acres of 
privately-owned land adjacent to the Town.  The annexa2on proposal is for the land covered by 
the ASP, to remove it from the County and include it in the Town. 
 
Mayor Greg Rathjen commented, “We have appreciated the good working rela2onship with 
Lacombe County to bring the plan to this point.  We look forward to siXng down and working 
out the details of this annexa2on with the County.” 
 
There is one private property owner within in the annexa2on area who will be formally 
consulted.  Addi2onally, public consulta2on is being planned and is expected to occur in April.  
Following consulta2on, an annexa2on report will be prepared, and submiZed to the Land and 
Property Rights Tribunal as a formal applica2on for annexa2on. 
 
For more informa2on, please contact: 
 
Marc Fortais, CAO     Albert Flootman, Planning Advisor 
Town of Bentley Parkland Community Planning Services 
403.748.4044      403.710.8996 
mfortais@townoaentley.ca    albert.flootman@pcps.ab.ca 

mailto:mfortais@townofbentley.ca
mailto:albert.flootman@pcps.ab.ca










 

 

Greg Rathjen 

Council Report February 2024 

 

• Feb 1, 2024, Town of Bentley / Lacombe County IDP ICF Committee 
 

- We met with the committee Lacombe County/Town of Bentley on the  
annexation and the preparation toward that approving presentation to bring it 
to council.  
 

• Feb 2, 2024, Medicine Lodge Ski Hill Site Visit with Minister Jason Nixon, Minister of Seniors,  
Community and social Services and Minister Joseph Schow – Minister of Tourism and 
Sport and elders from O’chiese First Nation.  
 

- We met with both ministers and representation from O’chiese First Nation, at 
   the Medicine Lodge Ski Hill and Tourism Alberta. There was also representation.  
   form the Medicine Lodge Ski Club and CAO Marc Fortais as well as me and  
   Councillor Hansen. We had a great discussion about the future of the hill and  
   discussed opportunities for future funding to support much needed.  
   improvements and studies.   
 

• Feb 13, 2024, Canada Green, and Inclusive Buildings Program Grant 

- Received formal notification from Canada Green and Inclusive Buildings Program  
(18 months after the original application was sent in) that we were not   
approved for the grant. MP Sean Fraser would not respond to my requests for a  
meeting. Even MP Blaine Calkins sent in weekly requests to the MP and they  
were not acknowledged. A few letters and calls by me as Mayor for  
our Town and Council were not acknowledged.  
- It should be noted that Legal AB received more than $7 million dollars to   
  retrofit their arena. 

 
• Feb 13, 2024, Regular Council Meeting 

 
- Oxford Park was discussed again looking at the possibility of installing a public  
  Washroom. Waiting for revised pricing. 
- Minor Soccer was approved for funding to support soccer in Bentley through the  
   Recreation, Cultural and Tourism Funding Support Program (they had submitted  
   their application on time, but it was misplaced and was not considered  
   originally at the regular council meetings in January. 



- Mayor and Council approved a motion to sell 4810 55th Ave (Lot 1, Block 2, Plan 
  152 1374) in the Sunset Heights Subdivision. This is a positive first step in  
  development of the subdivision. 
 
- Annual Water and Wastewater Reports were approved 

 
• Feb 19, 2024, Bentley Museum Family Day 

 
- We had a great family day at the museum with lots of people and a great 

team. 
- They had more than 150 visitors 
- We need to encourage people new and old to come and see the very 

interesting three buildings that they have there. Tons of history with this 
great museum. 

 
• Feb 20, 2024, MPC Meeting 

 
- MPC approved a Development Permit Application from Timco Quality   
  Builders, for the placement of an existing home to be moved onto a permanent  
  foundation on the lot located at 4810 55th Ave.  
 

- The home will be refinished to meet the architectural guidelines that were 
created for the subdivision.  

 
• Feb 27, 2024, Regular Council Meeting 

 
- received a presentation by Parkland Community Planning Services regarding the  
  annexation proposal and next steps for the Bentley Southeast Area Structure  
  Plan. Council approved the process to issue a letter of intent to annex.  
 
- Next steps will include notifying landowners and other stakeholders as well as   
   sending a letter to the province 
 
- The process will also involve public meetings and negotiations with Lacombe  
   County for items such as taxation 
 
- Mayor and Council also approved a 2.5% consumer price index increase for  
  Salaries and Wages in alignment with the 2024 approved budget. 
 

 
 

 



 

Dale Grimsdale 

REPORT FOR February 2024 
 
 
 

• Feb 13 - Regular Council meeting  
 

• Feb 20- MPC meeting 
 

• Feb 27- Regular Council meeting  
 



 

 

 

Lenore Eastman 

REPORT February 2024 

 

• Feb. 13th - regular council meeting  
 

• Feb. 20th - MPC meeting  
 

• Feb. 27th - MPC meeting  
                     - regular council meeting  
 

• Feb. 28th - Van Society meeting  
 

 

 



 

Pam Hansen 

REPORT FOR February 2024 

 

• Feb 5 - Lacombe founda�on mee�ng ( as alternate ) 
 

- received a online tour of the educa�on website available to staff where they do their 
  their safety courses as well as required orienta�on 
 
- senior income amounts were reviewed for 1st quarter , the lodge assistance program is  
   s�ll available to low-income seniors 
 
- Me�x audit  planning info was presented 
 
- Shannon Holt presented lodge numbers 

o Eckville - 13 moved out , 16 moved in 
o Lacombe- 25 moved out ,21 moves in 
o  

- Working on marke�ng plan to encourage people to move into the lodges 
 
- Home care expression of interest ; asking sites to hire and provide home care , Eckville 

lodge does not qualify for this so will remain status quo ; changes expected in Lacombe -
housing handbook was updated with rent changes etc. -Building analysis for Lacombe 
lodge is complete but no word on the findings as of mee�ng �me  

 

• Feb 13 Regular council mee�ng 
 

• Feb 20 MPC regarding sunset heights house being moved in approval.  
 

• Feb 27 regular council mee�ng  
 

• Feb 23 parkland Library mee�ng  
 

             - main conversa�on was on what popula�on to use for funding , GOA had once again  
  released popula�on numbers for Alberta treasury so we will con�nue using those  
  numbers unless municipali�es have done a census and turned in those numbers  
 
- also reminded board members that when vo�ng on issues at parkland Library that we 
  vote for what’s best for PRLS and perhaps not what’s best for the town we are in  

 
 
 

 



 

 

 

Brenda Valiquette 

REPORT FOR February 2024 

 
 

• Feb 1/24 Town of Bentley/Lacombe County IDP/ICF Commitee Mee�ng 
 

• Feb.13/24. Regular mee�ng 
 

• Feb.20/24 MPC mee�ng 
 

• Feb.27/24regular mee�ng 
 


	Agenda -March 12, 2024 - Regular Council Meeting.pdf
	March 12, 2024- Regular Meeting of Council - Minutes of February 27, 2024
	Cheque Listing 20210121 to 20240166
	Unfinished Business February 13, 2024 - Oxford Park
	Attachment #1 - Oxford Washroom Concept Plan
	New Business March 12, 2024- Monkey Top Fire Response
	Attachment #1 - Bylaw 128-2008 Bylaw to establish the operation of a volunteer fire department
	Attachment #2 - Policy 50-2014 Bentley District Fire Department - Fire Protection and Emergency Response
	Attachment #3 - Bylaw 1337-21 Fire Protection and Emergency Response Bylaw - Lacombe County
	Attachment #4 - Monkey Top Cost Recovery Breakdown
	New Business  March 12, 2024 - Land Use Bylaw - proposed changes for discussion
	Slide 1:   Town of Bentley LUB REVIEW – KEY AMENDMENTS  
	Slide 2: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 3: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 4: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 5: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 6: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 7: WHY LUB UPDATE?
	Slide 8: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 9: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 10: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 11: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 12: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 13: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR AMENDMENT
	Slide 14: PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
	Slide 15: LUB Structure
	Slide 16: DEFINITIONS
	Slide 17: Development Authority and Subdivision Authority 
	Slide 18: Administration 
	Slide 19: Enforcement 
	Slide 20: Direct Control District 
	Slide 21: Part Four – General Land Use Regulations
	Slide 22: Part Five – Use Specific Regulations 
	Slide 23: Shipping Container Regulations  
	Slide 24: “Transformed Shipping Container” means a modified shipping container that its architectural function and appearance with installing new windows, exterior finishing, painting etc. has significantly improved and meets the National Safety Standards
	Slide 25: Outdoor Storage in non-residential districts 
	Slide 26: Murals on external walls of buildings 
	Slide 27: Fabric Covered Structure 
	Slide 28: Hot Tub (New) 
	Slide 29: Short-term Rental (Air B&B) – (New) 
	Slide 30: Solar Collectors
	Slide 31: Small Wind Energy – Type A (New)
	Slide 32: Small Wind Energy – Type B (New)
	Slide 33: Signs - New Part   
	Slide 34: Sign Regulations
	Slide 35: Sign Regulations
	Slide 36: Site grading Regulations (New) 
	Slide 37: Site Projection (New)
	Slide 38: Temporary Use (New)
	Slide 39: Parking Requirements – New Part 
	Slide 40:  Urban Reserve District - New Provisions for the Proposed Annexation   
	Slide 41:  …Urban Reserve District - New Provisions for the Proposed Annexation  
	Slide 42: THANK YOU   QUESTIONS?  
	Slide 43

	Correspondance - Lacombe County Council Highlights Feb 22, 2024
	Correspondance - Media_Release_Annexation_2024
	Other Business - Extended Producer Responsibility

